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      INTRODUCTION

      
      We are where we are. It has become one of the great truisms of the economic and financial crisis that Ireland finds itself
         in – a catch-all shorthand for the mistakes by government, banks, regulators and property developers that landed everyone
         in difficulty.
      

      
      There have been some efforts to explain why ‘we are where we are’. There have been two banking reports examining the mistakes
         made by policy makers and the financial institutions. There have also been reams of analysis and opinion offered in the Dáil
         and through the media and a host of other fora.
      

      
      But they all relate to 21st-century events. And the reality is that the seeds of the current crisis were sown over the decades
         that went before. It is often said that those who ignore history are condemned to repeat its mistakes. The Irish as a nation
         can hardly be accused of ignoring history, but are certainly guilty of disregarding its lessons.
      

      
      Viewed through the lens of history, there is nothing spectacularly new about the latest crisis. Aspects of it are certainly
         original. Ireland has never seen its banks virtually collapse before and the property bubble was unprecedented. But a glance
         back at the 90 years since the foundation of the Republic confirms that there is nothing surprising about recent events. It was one giant accident waiting to happen. All roads led to this point.
      

      
      Think about it. What really lies at the root of the economic and banking collapse? Greed. Poor political leadership. A lack
         of proper regulation and respect for the spirit, as well as the rule, of the law. Jobbery. An overly close relationship between
         politics and big business. An inability to hold powerful institutions to account. These are not new features in Irish society.
      

      
      As we attempt to demonstrate in this book, there are copious examples over the past nine decades of such mistakes being made.
         An even worse indictment is that the Irish state – its legislators and institutions – failed to learn the lessons from those
         mistakes.
      

      
      Excessive greed is nothing new. The planning system was manipulated and twisted so a small number could profit hugely. These
         individuals barely gave a second thought to the citizens whose lives would be adversely affected by their actions in the short
         term, and the whole concept of good planning over the longer term.
      

      
      Political leadership has not been entirely non-existent over the lifetime of the Irish state. But for a variety of reasons
         – not least an electoral system where literally a handful of votes can dictate the make-up of a government – following rather
         than leading has been the modus operandi of successive governments.
      

      
      The Irish could never be accused of being overly law abiding and there is certainly nothing new about a lack of proper regulation
         and of respect for the law. Over six decades, Ireland funded its health system from a sweepstake operated illegally in most
         of the countries in which tickets were sold and yet a blind eye was turned because it was expedient to do so. Until the establishment in the 1990s of a tribunal of inquiry, efforts to uncover the obvious corruption in the planning system
         were almost laughable. And in the 1970s, some of the very people charged with the responsibility of enforcing the law were
         taking that law into their own hands.
      

      
      Jobbery has always been rife in Ireland. Stuffing hundreds of state boards with party hacks was simply seen as the fruits
         of general election victory, a harmless bit of political oneupmanship. The Irish people know differently now. They should
         have known differently before.
      

      
      The advent of social partnership in more recent decades extended the system of party patronage to share out influential and
         highly important positions among employer groups and trade unions. In other cases, tradition, rather than merit, became the
         key determinant for filling positions. When the Central Bank needed a new governor, it did not trawl the world for the best
         candidate, it simply gave the job to the secretary general of the Department of Finance.
      

      
      The overly close relationship between politics and big business goes back to the days of Taca and indeed long before that.
         The dangers of such a relationship were regularly pointed out, but nothing was done about it until serious damage had been
         inflicted on the state. An alternative system, where the taxpayers would fund democracy, was seen as politically unpalatable.
      

      
      The Irish state has proved itself incapable of holding powerful institutions to account. For many decades after independence
         there was virtually a parallel government, with offices in Maynooth, Drumcondra and Armagh. The Catholic Church was allowed
         to reign supreme in the areas of education, health and morality with, as is now apparent, disastrous consequences.
      

      
      
      It is not the contention of this book that Ireland is some form of banana republic. Glance around and it is clear that Ireland
         is one of the more benign liberal democracies on the planet. Although some terrible things have happened in and to the Irish
         state, sadly examples of man’s inhumanity to man are apparent in virtually every country and Ireland has experienced nothing
         close to that of the totalitarian regimes in mainland Europe, Asia, Central America and Africa.
      

      
      What we do contend is that the roots of the current crisis in Ireland are multi-layered and complex and go back decades, even
         to the foundation of the state (and arguably further). It is also our view that there is nothing surprising or unexpected
         about what has happened.
      

      
      Ireland is, after all, a country that was willing to sell its passports – the ultimate symbol of sovereignty – to the highest
         bidders; that continuously elected as its political leader a man about whom there were numerous ethical question marks; that
         ignored the common good in its planning process; that had a policy of jobs for the boys; that was willing to succumb to a
         virtual theocracy; that put economic and budgetary benefit before the rule of law and regulation; and that has, at times,
         shown blatant disregard for the health and safety of its citizens.
      

      
      How did we get to where we are? We hope the next 12 chapters will, if not entirely answer that question, at least provide
         some insight and broaden the debate.
      

   



      
      
      1

      
      DEV’S FAILURE TO TALK THE TALK

      
      Michael Collins had little idea of what was about to unfold. It was 20 August 1921 and he was meeting with Eamon de Valera.
         Relations between the two men were at that stage mixed. Both had proved they could lead, but there could be only one leader.
         Although de Valera was the nominal boss, a position that was soon to be ratified by the Dáil with his appointment as President
         of the Republic, and Collins was Finance Minister, many regarded Collins as ‘the man who won the war’.
      

      
      A rivalry between the two men had developed over the preceding months. De Valera had been in the United States for most of
         Ireland’s War of Independence, which raged from January 1919 to July 1921. When he left Ireland he was the undisputed leader
         of the broad nationalist movement. In his absence, it had been Collins, as Director of Intelligence for the IRA, who prosecuted
         the war. While Dev had grappled with the machinations of Irish-American politics, Collins had stayed one bicycle ride ahead
         of death. It was no longer clear who the real leader was.
      

      
      Following the truce in July 1921, Dev travelled to London to open negotiations with the British Prime Minister, David Lloyd
         George, on the future of Ireland. The negotiations were inconclusive. Correspondence between the two men ensued and it soon
         became obvious that there would be a requirement for further formal negotiations involving representatives of both countries.
      

      
      Plans were in train for the negotiations to take place in London. There would be a huge onus on the Irish delegation. Dev
         and Collins knew the limitations of what could be achieved. Both were also keenly aware that some of the extremist elements
         within the camp, who had been so useful in waging war, would not be accommodating of compromise.
      

      
      The meeting between Dev and Collins on 20 August was also attended by Harry Boland, a long-time friend of Collins. During
         the War of Independence Boland had travelled to the US to assist Dev. While there, his loyalties switched from ‘the Big Fella’
         to ‘the Long Fellow’. He was now a Dev man, although Collins was not yet aware of the new alignment.
      

      
      It did not take long for Dev to drop his bombshell: he would not be travelling to London as part of the delegation.

      
      Dev knew his decision was highly controversial. He regarded himself highly as a statesman and many others agreed that he was
         the best thing the movement had to offer at a negotiating table. Yet, Dev felt the cause would be better served if he was
         to absent himself from the most crucial negotiations ever undertaken on behalf of his country.
      

      
      There was worse to come for Collins. Not only would Dev be staying at home, but he would be proposing that Collins should
         go instead. Collins was devastated. Collins had wanted to go when Dev had travelled to London to meet Lloyd George in July,
         but was left at home. Dev had insisted on going alone. Now, as the smoke of war cleared and the limits of what could be achieved
         came into view, Dev was retreating from the trenches and putting Collins forward in his place.
      

      
      A few days later Dev proposed to the seven-member ruling cabinet that he should not go to London, but instead be held in reserve
         to take control of the country in the event of any fallout from the negotiations. A vote followed. Dev’s allies – Cathal Brugha,
         Austin Stack and Robert Barton – all agreed with him. Collins, W.T. Cosgrave and Arthur Griffith voted against. As President,
         Dev had the casting vote. He would be staying at home.
      

      
      Dev’s decision had long-term consequences for Ireland. The Civil War that unfolded within a year would in all likelihood have
         occurred anyway, but he played a major role in the renting apart of the nation. He would later found Fianna Fáil and effectively
         kick-start the political culture that dominated the country for the 20th century. The great dividing line in Irish politics
         was not based on ideology, but on the Civil War. And for a long time that came down to whether you were pro- or anti-Dev.
         It is reasonable to speculate that had Dev taken his courage in his hands and attended the treaty talks, Ireland’s Civil War
         would not have been so devastating and the Irish political culture would have been shaped by policy rather than personality.
      

      
      * * *

      
      De Valera is the towering figure of 20th-century Ireland. Born in New York in 1882 to an Irish mother and a Spanish father,
         he was dispatched at the age of two to his mother’s family, the Colls, in County Clare, soon after his father died. He was
         educated in Blackrock College, Dublin, and later became a teacher.
      

      
      Dev’s involvement in politics began in 1913 when he joined the Irish Volunteers, an organisation set up to counter the Ulster Volunteers, which in turn was established to resist Home Rule. The young teacher rose quickly through the ranks, displaying
         ability and commitment to the cause. By Easter 1916, he was commandant of the Third Battalion of the Dublin Brigade and also
         a member of the Irish Republican Brotherhood (IRB), which was behind the Rising.
      

      
      On Easter Monday, 24 April 1916, the Proclamation was read by Patrick Pearse outside the GPO. The Republic, which in time
         would become an albatross around Dev’s neck, was born.
      

      
      During Easter week Dev occupied Boland’s Mill on Grand Canal Street. There are conflicting accounts about how he conducted
         himself. Supporters remember a leader with great organisational skills. Detractors claim that he suffered a nervous breakdown
         during the fighting. These differing versions have to be seen in the light of what he subsequently came to represent.
      

      
      Following the insurgents’ surrender, Dev was sentenced to death. But luck, not for the first or last time, was on his side.
         The logistics of the executions meant he was towards the end of the list of those to die. By the time his appointed date came
         around, public opinion had turned. Fifteen of the leaders had been executed over nine days. Marching out the condemned men
         in twos and threes to be shot was as stupid a move as the occupying power had committed in its long association with Ireland.
         The drawn-out nature of the executions redirected public anger from the insurgents to the British. It also formed the basis
         for the awakening that ultimately led to the War of Independence.
      

      
      Dev’s American citizenship ensured that his sentence was commuted and he was eventually released in an amnesty in June 1917.

      
      
      Dev’s status during the Rising, combined with his ability and force of personality, ensured that he became the major figure
         in the Republican movement. In June 1917 he was elected to the British parliament, and also became President of Sinn Féin.
         The following year Sinn Féin won a huge majority in a general election.
      

      
      On 21 January 1919 the first meeting of Dáil Éireann took place in the Mansion House in Dublin. It was an Irish parliament
         operating despite Ireland’s official status as an effective province of Great Britain. Dev had been re-arrested by then and
         could not attend. Others, including Collins, did not attend for fear of arrest.
      

      
      On the same day, by what appears to be coincidence, two RIC constables were shot dead in Soloheadbeg, County Tipperary, by
         a group of Volunteers in search of arms. The shots fired that day were the first of what came to be the War of Independence
         and the two policemen who died were the first of its many fatalities.
      

      
      In February 1919 Dev escaped from Lincoln Jail in an operation organised by Collins. The next meeting of the Dáil voted Dev
         as President of the assembly. In June it was agreed that the best use of Dev’s status would be in the United States, where
         he could lobby for political and financial support of the new parliament and the wider cause of freedom.
      

      
      He crossed the Atlantic that month and remained in the US until December 1920.

      
      While there, Dev raised considerable funds – over $5 million – which were later the subject of a major dispute. Most of the
         money eventually found its way to Dev and was put to use in setting up the Irish Press some 13 years later. The newspaper became the property of the de Valera family, providing considerable wealth that was passed down through the generations.
      

      
      * * *

      
      While Dev was away, Collins prosecuted the war. His nominal role as Director of Intelligence masked the broad sweep of his
         influence. Collins was eight years younger than Dev and had fought in the GPO during the Rising. His experience during Easter
         1916 left him nonplussed about the growing cult of Patrick Pearse, but he was impressed by James Connolly and he resolved
         that the next time Ireland strained against the shackles of imperialism, the combatants would not set themselves up as sitting
         ducks.
      

      
      During Collins’ year-long detention in Frongoch internment camp, he rose to prominence through his force of personality and
         organisational skills. He saw the necessity of using guerrilla war tactics in any forthcoming conflict in order to neutralise
         the far superior forces that the British would have at their disposal.
      

      
      In 1919 Collins took on three separate roles that solidified his power base. He was appointed President of the IRB and Director
         of Intelligence of the IRA. Dev also offered him the role of Minister for Finance in the Sinn Féin government. He proved to
         be highly efficient in each of his posts.
      

      
      As a minister, Collins set up a national bond scheme designed to raise funds for the new Republic. In the military sphere,
         he organised a network of flying columns that used the guerrilla warfare tactics of hitting and running. He was also responsible
         for the establishment of a network of spies, which gave the Irish a great advantage in the conflict. The setting up of what
         came to be known as ‘The Squad’ was another astute move. This group of young men was charged with carrying out assassinations as part of the war effort.
      

      
      Through it all, Collins was on the run. In 1920 the British offered a reward of £10,000 for information leading to his capture
         or death. Had he been caught during the War of Independence, he would undoubtedly have been murdered or executed, most likely
         after suffering extreme torture. As it was, he survived the British but was killed by his own people.
      

      
      When Dev returned from the US, Collins was enmeshed in a dispute with one of Dev’s main allies, Cathal Brugha. It seems that
         Dev soon came to regard Collins as a rival.
      

      
      In April 1920 the House of Commons passed the Government of Ireland Act, accommodating the partition of Ireland. With the
         Northern question bedded down, at least temporarily, there was now scope for the British to deal with the rest of Ireland.
         Intermediaries informed Collins that the British would be interested in negotiations.
      

      
      The subsequent truce came into effect on 9 July 1921. Ireland celebrated. It looked to many as if a great victory had been
         achieved. Great Britain, with its sprawling empire, had been shot and bombed to the negotiating table by a relatively small,
         committed, yet inexperienced, militia. As far as some were concerned, this meant that Britain was going to concede republican
         status to the smaller island. In the glow of apparent victory, the capacity for delusion was limitless.
      

      
      * * *

      
      De Valera could not have been under any illusions when he travelled to London on 12 July to meet Lloyd George, just days after
         the truce. If he had had any notions that the British would simply roll over and hand independence to John Bull’s Other Island,
         he would soon have been disabused of them.
      

      
      
      Lloyd George was the perfect host. He knew the kind of pressures under which Dev laboured. There was never any question of
         Ireland being awarded the status of a republic as the implications for the empire would have been catastrophic. But he was
         willing to extend to his guest any courtesies he could, while at the same time keeping his eye on the negotiating ball.
      

      
      When the two met at 10 Downing Street, Lloyd George brought Dev into the Imperial Room, showing him the broad sweep of His
         Majesty’s power. He pointed to the chairs representing the various members of the Commonwealth or, as he described it, ‘this
         great sisterhood of nations’. ‘There sits India, there Africa … one chair remains vacant – waiting for Ireland.’ Dev’s facial
         features are reported to have remained inscrutable in response to this initial stab at courtship.
      

      
      The two men met four times over the following week. Lloyd George was straight up about what was on the table. The Government
         of Ireland Act would remain in force, cementing the partition of the country. The 26 counties could have dominion status within
         the Commonwealth, similar to that enjoyed by Canada. The defence of the southern coastal waters would remain in British hands.
         The Irish would be responsible for part of the British national debt.
      

      
      There was little movement between the two men. Later Lloyd George would describe negotiating with Dev as like ‘sitting on
         a merry-go-round, trying to catch up the swing in front’. Dev was nonplussed: he had come to put flesh on the Republic declared
         on the steps of the GPO in 1916; dominion status would not be acceptable. His mood turned dark.
      

      
      Pressure was applied from outside Number Ten. James Craig, the de facto leader of the partitioned North of Ireland, was holed
         up near the seat of British power. He was confident that Lloyd George would bring no pressure to bear on Unionists. While Dev was in negotiations, Craig wrote a comment piece
         for a London newspaper, proclaiming that Dev did not represent the whole of Ireland.
      

      
      Dev was outraged. As far as he was concerned, he was there as leader of the Irish parliament, the Dáil, which had jurisdiction
         over the whole island. He wrote to Collins during the kerfuffle that followed Craig’s comments, ‘Things may burst up suddenly
         so be prepared.’
      

      
      After venturing around in circles one time too many, Lloyd George finally laid his cards on the table, with a thump, on 19
         July. Dominion status, stump up for some of the debt, partition remains, consider yourself lucky. Dev declined.
      

      
      ‘Do you realise that this means war?’ the Welsh Wizard, as he was known, told Dev. ‘Do you realise the responsibility for
         it will rest on your shoulders alone?’
      

      
      Dev answered, ‘No Mr Lloyd George, if you insist on attacking us it is you, not I, who will be responsible because you will
         be the aggressor.’
      

      
      When Lloyd George remarked, ‘I could put a solider in Ireland for every man, woman and child in it.’ Dev replied, ‘Very well,
         but you would have to keep them there.’
      

      
      The British proposals were put in writing and presented to de Valera the following day. Dev left without taking a copy, enraging
         Lloyd George as much for his lack of courtesy as anything else.
      

      
      At 5.30 p.m. on 20 July Lloyd George informed his cabinet of the terms he had offered the Irishman. Nobody was too happy about
         the political fallout that would accrue over the effective weakening of British power to even a minor degree, but all agreed
         that something had to be done. If the Irish accepted the proposal, it would be a done deal.
      

      
      
      One of Lloyd George’s ministers, Hal Fisher, wrote about the briefing in his diary, noting that the Prime Minister had described
         Dev as ‘a nice man, honest, astonishingly little vocabulary, wanted to settle but afraid of his followers’. While some of
         this description might well be accurate, it also illustrates the superiority complex that the British aristocrats had when
         dealing with upstarts with guns demanding the freedom of their country.
      

      
      Back in Dublin, Dev reported to the cabinet about what had transpired. He certainly did not push the proposals, but there
         was some level of disagreement among his followers. In a reported exchange recorded in Tim Pat Coogan’s biography of Dev (and
         used with artistic licence in the 1995 movie Michael Collins), Cathal Brugha, Minister for Defence, gave vent to the feelings of the militarists within the movement:
      

      
      

         BRUGHA: I haven’t much to add except to say how glad I am that it has been suggested we circulate these documents and consider them
            fully before we meet again, if for no other reason than to give you and the great masters of English you keep at your elbow
            an opportunity of extricating us from the morass in which ye have landed us.
         

         DEV: We have done our best and I have never undertaken to do more than my best.
         

         BRUGHA: We have proclaimed a Republic in arms. It has been ratified by the votes of the people, and we have sworn to defend it with
            our lives.
         

         DEV: The oath never conveyed any more to me than to do my best in whatever circumstances may arise.
         

         BRUGHA: You have accepted a position of authority and responsibility in the government of the Republic.
         

BRUGHA (reportedly striking the desk with his fist): And you will discharge the duties of that office as have been defined. I do
            not want ever again to hear anything else from you.
         

         DEV: I think that I can promise, Cathal, that you won’t have to complain again.
         

      



      
      If accurately reported, this final response from Dev was instructive about what would unfold over the following year.

      
      The exchange says much about the politics of the era. Brugha was a genuine hero of 1916. He still carried a limp from the
         horrendous injuries he suffered during Easter week. For a long time after the fighting it was thought that he would not survive
         his wounds. He represented the ideals of the Republic, a man for whom blood sacrifice was the highest calling. The extent
         of feeling within Sinn Féin at the time was such that even Brugha was a moderate compared with leading IRA figures such as
         Rory O’Connor.
      

      
      Brugha had also developed a serious rivalry with Collins. Although Brugha was the nominal military head as the Minister of
         Defence, it was Collins who had led the war. Collins was thus a threat, an upstart who had barely featured in the glorious
         defeat of Easter 1916 but was racing ahead of everybody in the pecking order.
      

      
      For his part, Dev was occupying a sticky wicket. A student of Machiavelli, he watched Collins’ rising star closely. But, whatever
         his personal ambitions, Dev was also somebody who valued unity in the movement.
      

      
      When he had returned from the US earlier that year, he expressed his dissatisfaction with the nature of the War of Independence.
         He felt that the use of guerrilla tactics and targeted assassinations left the movement open to accusations of being nothing
         more than a murder gang. He had encountered such opinions in the US. Dev was not a militarist. In May 1921, a few months after his return, the IRA departed
         from its usual strategy and occupied and burnt down the Custom House in Dublin, which was the centre of local government.
         Many believe the exercise was undertaken after pressure was applied by Dev to engage in large-scale operations. The attack
         was a disaster. Five volunteers were killed and over 80 were captured. Such actions were futile.
      

      
      Dev surely knew that any resumption of war would have horrendous consequences not only for the IRA, but also the general population.
         Time would prove that he was a far more able politician than revolutionary, but in the summer of 1921 he desperately needed
         to keep the militarists on board.
      

      
      Opinions vary on what Dev’s priorities were in those months: ensuring the future of the Republic, pursuing what was best for
         the people of Ireland or achieving what was best for the future of Eamon de Valera. Most historians who attempt to analyse
         Dev’s motives find that they are dealing with something beyond rational treatment. As S.M. Lawlor put it in Britain and Ireland 1914–23, ‘it was never quite clear what De Valera stood for, or with whom he stood, at least from December 1920 to June 1922’.
      

      
      In the throes of the agonising that ensued in the summer of 1921, Dev woke one morning with an epiphany called external association.
         It was, by the standards of the time, a sophisticated and far-reaching concept: Ireland would associate with the Commonwealth,
         be a part of it yet separate, autonomous yet a member of the group of nations that pledged nominal allegiance to the British
         monarch. It was a new way forward.
      

      
      Despite his new concept, which Dev shared with many of his perplexed colleagues, there were more earthy matters at hand. Lloyd George issued an invitation to full-blown talks involving delegations from each side, ‘to ascertain how the association
         of Ireland with the community of nations known as the British Empire can best be reconciled with Irish national aspirations’.
      

      
      Here was the perfect opportunity for Dev to carry his external association idea to Downing Street and beyond, to present it
         to the most powerful politicians in the world, to convince them of its value and its possibilities, to press on them that
         it was the only way out of further conflict. He chose to do no such thing. He chose to stay at home.
      

      
      * * *

      
      After the meeting of 20 August 1921 Collins did his damnedest to get out of being sent to London. The voices in his head told
         him it was a fool’s errand and he would be conferred with the status of scapegoat. But, eventually, he agreed. One characteristic
         of Collins was that once he decided on a course of action he followed through with determination. That quality was behind
         his success during the War of Independence.
      

      
      In later years Dev claimed that his decision to stay in Dublin was not controversial, and that there was ‘general agreement’
         that he should remain aloof from the negotiations. The records of the cabinet meeting that ratified his decision, and of the
         Dáil, beg to differ. On 14 September Cosgrave made a passionate plea in the Dáil for Dev to travel. As reported in the record
         of the private sessions of the Dáil for the day, Cosgrave said:
      

      
      

         [Dev] had an extraordinary experience in negotiations. He also had the advantage of being in touch already. The head of the
            State in England was Mr. Lloyd George and he expected he would be one of the plenipotentiaries on the side of England … they were sending over
            [a team] and they were leaving their ablest player in reserve … The reserve would have to be used some time or other and it
            struck him now was the time they were required.
         

      



      
      The record of Dev’s response states:

      
      

         He really believed it was vital at this stage that the symbol of the Republic should be kept untouched and that it should
            not be compromised in any sense by any arrangements which it might be necessary for our plenipotentiaries to make. He was
            sure the Dáil realised the task they were giving to them – to win for them what a mighty army and navy might not be able to
            win for them. It was not a shirking of duty, but he realised the position and how necessary it was to keep the Head of the
            State and the symbol untouched and that was why he asked to be left out.
         

      



      
      Having fortified himself in his decision not to go, Dev then set about ensuring that Collins would travel. Notably, Dev had
         also offered places on the delegation to Brugha and Stack. When his cabinet allies refused to go, he did not apply any further
         pressure. But he was determined that Collins would travel.
      

      
      Dev used his considerable persuasive skills on Collins as well as enlisting the help of others. One such man was Collins’
         close friend Batt O’Connor. O’Connor invited Collins to his home, where the two sat down with a bottle of whiskey to talk
         over the future of their country. O’Connor’s daughter was 12 at the time, and years later she recalled her memories for Tim
         Pat Coogan:
      

      
      

         Daddy brought out the bottle and they talked for hours and hours. I could hear Mick’s light voice arguing. Mick didn’t think it was right that he should go, because he was
            a soldier. De Valera should go, he kept saying. It’s not my place. He sounded terribly upset. But daddy kept arguing, ‘You’ll
            have to go, Mick. It’s the one chance you’ll get. Think of how it will look in America if you miss this opportunity. Think
            of what this could do for Ireland. It’s your duty. It’s a great opportunity. Think of what you can lose if you don’t go.’
         

      



      
      Coogan is one of the historians who believes that Dev’s decision not to travel was catastrophic. As he wrote in his biography
         of Collins:
      

      
      

         It was the worst single decision of de Valera’s life, for himself and for Ireland. Instead of the experience and prestige
            of the most revered political figure on the Irish side being made available to parley against the English, De Valera’s full
            force was ultimately to be turned against his fellow countrymen. The consequence of his decision was to drive him to an extremist
            position in which he helped unleash a hurricane of violence and destruction in Ireland. He knew that any agreement brought
            back from London would be a compromise.
         

      



      
      Others have been less critical of Dev’s decision to stay at home. The kinder interpretation is that he was principally concerned
         with maintaining unity and he reckoned that by staying at home he was better placed to ensure there would be no split.
      

      
      Joe Lee notes in Ireland 1912–1985 that ‘Collins sensed a conspiracy against him by De Valera, Brugha and Stack.’ However, Lee suggests:
      

      
      
      

         His suspicions reveal something of the atmosphere in the cabinet but he was being perhaps hypersensitive. However diligently
            de Valera felt politicians should study Machiavelli, his real blunder was less conspiracy than miscalculation. He staked everything
            on preserving unity through his ‘external association scheme’.
         

      



      
      In this scenario Dev stayed at home to keep external association as a carrot for the militarists when the delegates would
         inevitably return with a poor result. It is a credible theory but, like many others concerning Dev’s motives, we will never
         really know.
      

      
      * * *

      
      The talks on the future of Ireland officially began on 11 October 1921. There was an obvious imbalance in the respective delegations.
         The British included Prime Minister Lloyd George, the Lord Chancellor Lord Birkenhead, Secretary of State for the Colonies
         (and of war) Winston Churchill, Attorney General Gordon Hewart and the Lord Privy Seal Austin Chamberlain.
      

      
      In contrast, the Irish included only three members of cabinet: Collins, Arthur Griffith and Robert Barton. Two other TDs,
         Eamonn Duggan and George Gavan Duffy, made up the rest of the delegation. The secretary to the team was Erskine Childers,
         a close ally of Dev, regarded by many as the Long Fellow’s eyes and ears in London. There was no Dev to convey what the Irish
         people really wanted. There was no Brugha or Stack to represent the hardliners who would inevitably have a major say on the
         outcome.
      

      
      Little had changed since the encounter between Dev and Lloyd George earlier that summer. Dominion status was the deal. There would have to be an oath of allegiance to the Crown. That was good enough for large countries like Canada and
         Australia and Ireland should not expect something more.
      

      
      As little progress was made in the first weeks there was a proposal for sub-groups. On the Irish side, Collins and Griffith
         were the two delegates who attended these sessions every time. The British pairing rotated among their various delegates.
         Collins and Griffith also had a series of secret meetings with Lloyd George and Tom Jones, who was a member of the British
         war cabinet secretariat.
      

      
      The Irish delegates had the status of plenipotentiaries, which meant they had full power to sign whatever was agreed on behalf
         of the Dáil. They also returned to Dublin at least twice to relay in person how the negotiations were progressing.
      

      
      By all accounts, Dev sent inconsistent signals to the delegates, even in terms of their status. In Judging Dev, Diarmaid Ferriter touched on the problems:
      

      
      

         [Dev’s] critics quite legitimately pointed to the inconsistency of his position; having prepared to compromise with Lloyd
            George, ‘he had then rushed back to the rock of republicanism’ and seemed to be sending conflicting messages to the Irish
            negotiators. Another problem was that the Dáil had granted them plenipotentiary powers but privately, they were issued with
            another contradictory instruction by the cabinet to the effect that before signing any agreement, they would have to refer
            it back to the cabinet.
         

      



      
      Thus, Dev was prepared to bypass the will of the Dáil, but also wanted any agreement referred to the four members of cabinet
         who remained in Dublin. Three of those members, Dev, Brugha and Stack, had refused to go to London themselves because they were unwilling to brook compromise. It could well be argued that the circumstances surrounding the most important negotiations
         in the history of the island were a royal mess, and that the blame lay largely with one man.
      

      
      In the early hours of 6 December 1921 the Irish members signed the proposed treaty. The alternative, as Lloyd George threatened,
         was ‘immediate and terrible war’. To a certain extent they had been outfoxed by politicians with long and varied experience
         of negotiations. Yet it is difficult to see how anything more could have been achieved.
      

      
      A scene in the Michael Collins movie captures the problem well. Liam Neeson’s Collins gets off the boat returning to Dublin after signing the treaty to
         be met by his former ally, Aidan Quinn’s Harry Boland. Boland is distraught at the terms of the treaty. ‘How could you, Mick,’
         he asks. Collins replies, ‘We couldn’t get the Republic, it’s not within their comprehension.’ Never was a truer word uttered
         – albeit with the stamp of artistic licence on it.
      

      
      Britain was just a few years out of the Great War in which it was the leading power in the defeat of the mighty German army.
         Its writ still ran across large swathes of the globe, effectively governing hundreds of millions of people. Yet on its doorstep,
         a little country that had been absorbed into a union over a century earlier was demanding a complete break of ties.
      

      
      Declaring the Republic on the steps of the GPO as a preamble to a blood sacrifice was one thing. That gesture had had the
         desired effect and led to a quite stunning victory in terms of shooting the empire all the way to the negotiating table. But
         there was never a chance that it would be realised immediately.
      

      
      The alternative was war, and while many in the IRA were high on the victory already achieved, few of them were aware of how depleted were the resources required to renew the conflict. Collins knew, and that knowledge perhaps reinforced his
         decision to sign.
      

      
      * * *

      
      When the cabinet met on 8 December 1921 the main sticking point with the treaty was the requirement for elected representatives
         to swear an oath of allegiance to the King. The partition of the island, which would loom large through the remainder of the
         century, was not the central issue at that time.
      

      
      Griffith berated Dev for not getting involved in the process, sniping from the sidelines and then rejecting the outcome. The
         note on the meeting recorded him saying, ‘We would have offered to stand out. Asked Dev to come over.’ Dev responded, ‘I would
         have gone and said, “go to the devil I will not sign”.’ This, of course, was a splendid proposition after the fact. Dev had
         been given every opportunity to go to London, both before and during the negotiations. He declined to do so.
      

      
      The cabinet voted on the treaty. Dev, Brugha and Stack voted against, the other four members in favour. Dev said he could
         not support a treaty that was in ‘violent conflict’ with the wishes of the majority. It is unclear how he gleaned the wishes
         of the majority, but later he would claim that he had only to look into his heart to know how the Irish people felt. Within
         six months he would have the opportunity to test his notions, and the result would give him little comfort.
      

      
      During the Dáil debate on the treaty on 14 December, Dev declared:

      
      

         … it would be ridiculous to think that we could send five men to complete a treaty without the right of ratification by this
            assembly. That is the only thing that matters. Therefore it is agreed that this Treaty is simply an agreement and that it is not binding until the Dáil ratifies it. That is what we are concerned with.
         

      



      
      On 7 January 1922 the Dáil voted by 64 to 57 to ratify the treaty. Having lost the vote, Dev was no longer concerned with
         what the assembly had decided through the majority. He led a walkout of the chamber. The following week, a provisional government
         was established to administer the handover of the state from the British. Dev, Stack and Brugha were the only missing figures
         from the previous cabinet.
      

      
      Over the following six months the country worked itself into a frenzy towards civil war. There are conflicting accounts of
         Dev’s role in whipping up violent opposition to the treaty.
      

      
      An election was due to be called and many saw this as the Irish people’s final verdict on the treaty. Dev attempted to bring
         all his powers of persuasion to bear on the populace as to the rightness of his position. In one speech on St Patrick’s Day
         in Thurles, County Tipperary, he laid out his position: ‘If they accepted the treaty, and if the volunteers of the future
         tried to complete the work the volunteers of the last four years had been attempting, they would have to complete it, not
         over the bodies of foreign soldiers, but over the dead bodies of their own countrymen.’
      

      
      The next day he introduced into his speech the phrase ‘the people have no right to do wrong’ and mentioned the prospect of
         ‘wading through blood’ to achieve the Republic. Declaring that the people had no right to be wrong was in sharp contrast to
         a speech he had given before the 1918 election, in which he said that Sinn Féin stood for ‘the right of the people of this
         nation to determine freely for themselves how they shall be governed and for the right of every citizen to an equal right
         in the determination’.
      

      
      
      On 20 March the Irish Independent reported that in a speech in Killarney, County Kerry, Dev had said that if the treaty were ratified those who opposed it
         would be obliged to ‘march over the dead bodies of their own brothers. They will have to wade through Irish blood … the people
         never have a right to do wrong.’ Dev took severe umbrage with the publication, but did not suggest that he had been misquoted.
         Although he then toned down his utterances, the damage had been done.
      

      
      Despite the gathering storm, Dev and Collins attempted to sign an election pact, but it was dropped at the last minute. It
         would be unfair to suggest that Dev was gung ho for a return to war. Far from it. But he was not willing to accept the treaty,
         particularly in the context of the relentless rise of Collins’ star, the trajectory of which had steepened over the previous
         six months. Neither could it be said that he had major influence over the militarists. But it remains the case that the antitreatyites
         were able to call on the support of the leading political figure on the island.
      

      
      The attraction of Dev as a political force was obvious before the events surrounding the treaty, and they would become even
         more obvious in the decades after. It can reasonably be speculated that that same force had a great impact on thousands of
         voters who may have been swaying over whether to opt for peace or war in early 1922.
      

      
      When the people spoke on 18 June, the pro-treaty Sinn Féin party received 239,193 votes and Dev’s faction trailed behind with
         133,864. Most of the other 247,226 votes cast were for pro-treaty parties (with the exception of the Unionists). In broad
         terms the vote for the treaty was three times that of those opposed. The voice of the people resonated with a plea for peace.
         They were not going to get it.
      

      
      
      * * *

      
      The Civil War began in earnest on 28 June 1922 when Collins ordered the shelling of the Four Courts where an anti-treaty garrison
         had been established. Over the following ten months the life was almost smothered from the fledgling state. Leading figures
         such as Collins, Griffith, Brugha and Boland were among the 3,000 lives lost in the internal conflict. More people died violently
         in the Civil War than did in the War of Independence.
      

      
      The Big Fella was shot dead in the early stages of the conflict on 22 August. His passing increased the bitterness between
         the two sides and the intensity of the engagements. A country suffering abject poverty was ripped apart as two sides went
         to war over whether or not to swear an oath of allegiance to a foreign monarch.
      

      
      The provisional government executed 77 men for crimes against the new state. Among them was Erskine Childers, who was convicted
         for possession of a revolver that had been given to him a few years earlier by Collins. The executions were, by any normal
         standards, illegal, but the state was in a perilous condition. Over the following 50 years, ‘77’ would become an insult, disguised
         as a number, to be hurled across the political divide that was forged during the conflict.
      

      
      Dev had a minor role in the fighting. When hostilities broke out he signed up as a private in his old Dublin IRA brigade.
         He had little influence over those who were commanding operations. But just as a last-minute intervention in 1916 had ensured
         that he lived to lead and fight another day, fate’s arrow remained true during the Civil War. Had Dev been captured with a
         gun in his possession during those days, it is most likely that he would, like Childers, have been put up against a wall and
         shot.
      

      
      
      Some portrayals of how Dev conducted himself during the Civil War have been grossly unfair. In the Michael Collins movie, Alan Rickman’s Dev is a snivelling wreck who visited Beal na mBlath the night before the ambush in which Collins died.
         There is no reason to believe that this depiction is accurate. The historical revision of Dev in recent years has to be seen
         in the context of the decades during which he was a powerful figure and sought to project a flattering image of his role in
         those heady early years. The truth, as always, lies somewhere in between hagiography and character assassination.
      

      
      It is beyond dispute, however, that Dev was central to the support received by the anti-treatyites during that devastating
         first year in the life of the state. Why he behaved as he did has always been a matter of speculation, but most historians
         who examine the subject agree that his reasoning was largely governed by the pursuit of self-interest at a time when others
         were dying for their country.
      

      
      The Civil War began to peter out through March and April 1923. Across Ireland the pro-treaty National Army gained the upper
         hand against the IRA. At one stage Dev appealed to the leaders of the Irregulars to call a ceasefire, but they ignored him.
         Then on 10 April the Chief of Staff of the IRA, Liam Lynch, was killed in an ambush in Tipperary. His successor, Frank Aiken
         (who later served with distinction in a number of cabinets), ordered the IRA volunteers to dump arms. This was quickly followed
         by a statement to the same effect from Dev.
      

      
      The Long Fellow endured another spell in prison, this one lasting for about a year. On emerging, he thrust himself into politics,
         setting up Fianna Fáil in 1926. He won power in 1932 and led a number of governments over the following 27 years. After his
         retirement from the Dáil, he served two seven-year terms as President of Ireland until 1973. He died two years later.
      

      
      * * *

      
      De Valera’s long political career has been dissected and revised since his death. Opinions differ as to his effectiveness
         and contribution to the development of the state. He unquestionably achieved much, but he also missed many opportunities.
      

      
      The overriding feature of Irish politics through the first 80 years of the state’s existence was the Civil War divide. It
         shaped the political culture, ensuring, for instance, that there was no development along traditional left and right lines.
         It may well have accounted for the slow progress of Ireland’s development as an independent state. Not until the early 1960s,
         under the influence of T.K. Whitaker and Seán Lemass, the latter another Civil War veteran, did the state embark on a proper
         stage of economic development.
      

      
      For decades after independence, political allegiance was defined by where one stood on the treaty. Floating voters were in
         a minority. Loyalties bordered on the fanatical. Households were firmly Fianna Fáil or Fine Gael, regardless of policy.
      

      
      Although the country was haemorrhaging its young people to Britain and the US, politics in Ireland tragically failed to move
         beyond the tribal. If the understandable emotions triggered by the Civil War had not existed, then perhaps there would have
         been greater pressure on the two main political parties to address the bitter divisions and concentrate on developing policies
         to improve the often miserable lot of the voting public.
      

      
      Perhaps Cumann na nGaedheal would have moved beyond its Commonwealth mindset in the 1920s. Perhaps Fianna Fáil would not have
         embarked on its disastrous economic war with Britain in the 1930s. Perhaps successive governments would not have clung to the hugely misguided policy of protectionism
         until well into the 1950s for fear of being outflanked on the national question by the opposition. Perhaps these parties would
         not have existed at all and instead the Labour Party would have emerged as a greater force, bringing the type of radical edge
         to Irish politics that its counterpart in Britain brought about after World War II.
      

      
      It is difficult to be definitive on these points but it is clear that for at least 30 years after independence it was not,
         to borrow Bill Clinton’s old adage, ‘the economy stupid’ that mattered most. Too much energy, too many words and too much
         bitterness was wasted on the fallout from the tragedy that was the Civil War.
      

      
      As late as 1948 the Civil War was still such a live issue that the leader of Fine Gael, Richard Mulcahy, could not lead the
         new five-party inter-party government because of his former role as head of the Free State Army. It would be another decade
         before stark warnings from senior civil servants about the viability of the state prompted the government of the day to finally
         focus on the issue that was most relevant to the country’s citizens: the economic malaise.
      

      
      Predicting how Ireland would have developed if the Civil War had not happened is a perilous business. But we can say with
         some confidence that, without the rawness of what happened in that tragic year when family members and former comrades became
         sworn enemies, it would have been better.
      

      
      For all the undoubted achievements of Eamon de Valera during his long and impressive political career, his role in that conflict
         must always feature large in any assessment of his legacy.
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      SWEEPING DIRT UNDER THE CARPET

      
      It was the scoop to beat all scoops. Joe MacAnthony’s 7,000-word exposé on the Irish Hospitals Sweepstakes in the Sunday Independent was genuinely shocking to its readers in February 1973.
      

      
      The ‘Sweep’ was an iconic Irish institution and a worldwide phenomenon. Numerous films had been based on it. It was even namechecked
         in Cole Porter’s immortal song ‘You’re the Top’. It seemed like a harmless piece of fun. Thousands upon thousands of punters
         would buy tickets for what was in essence a lottery linked to a major horse race. If their name was drawn out, they were matched
         up in a separate draw with a horse running in the selected race and the outcome of the race dictated who won the most. More
         importantly, the Sweep had provided millions to pay for the rebuilding of the entire Irish hospital system and had employed
         thousands of people.
      

      
      MacAnthony’s investigation stripped away a myth that had existed for the previous half a century and shone a light on what
         was really happening. It was a devastating critique.
      

      
      Irish hospitals were receiving less than 10 per cent of the value of the tickets being sold across the world; leading shareholders in the organisation were buying up ticket shares in advance of the race, thereby allowing them to win their own
         prizes; and the published accounts masked huge hidden expenses – something that was specifically allowed by legislation.
      

      
      Even worse, the article highlighted the illegality surrounding the sale of the tickets abroad and the degree of smuggling
         involved; how the organisers were charging prices for tickets above the rate sanctioned by the Minister for Justice; and the
         covert assistance that the Department of Posts and Telegraphs was giving to the Sweep in contravention of international postal
         law. It revealed that Oireachtas members and civil servants were in receipt of commissions and painted a shocking picture
         of the Sweep’s resistance to any organisation trying to muscle in on the action in North America.
      

      
      It was a rap sheet as long as the Mardi Gras-style processions through Dublin that had publicised the upcoming sweepstake
         draw in its halcyon days.
      

      
      But brilliant and all as MacAnthony’s investigation was, the details can hardly have been news to those at the top of Irish
         society, particularly those in government. Successive governments over five decades had turned a blind eye to what the Reader’s Digest had years earlier described as ‘the greatest bleeding heart racket in the world’.
      

      
      Why? Because it was deemed to be in the national interest to do so. With no money available to rebuild the crumbling hospital
         infrastructure, the Sweep was seen as the lesser of two evils.
      

      
      * * *

      
      Irish hospitals in the 1920s were largely run by voluntary charitable organisations, with either Catholic or Protestant management. The state involvement that is taken for granted today was virtually non-existent. Nearly all the hospitals were
         experiencing a huge funding crisis, some even faced closure.
      

      
      The pressure to raise money to alleviate the hospitals’ funding crisis was huge and sweepstake-type ventures had been very
         successful, as one-off projects, in the early 1920s. Many in government felt that they had no choice other than to approve
         a sweepstake, but they faced a very powerful opponent. Kevin O’Higgins, Minister for Justice and ‘strong man’ of the cabinet,
         was hugely opposed to legalising sweepstakes. Highly sceptical of the motives of sweepstake promoters, he told the Dáil in
         March 1923 that ‘they were people whom I never suspected of being philanthropists’ and indicated that he believed sweepstakes
         were associated with fraud and corruption.
      

      
      The Protestant churches were also strongly opposed to them on moral grounds; the Catholic Church – traditionally more concerned
         with sexual vices than gambling – took a more Jesuitical approach.
      

      
      The leader of the Labour Party, Thomas Johnson, was another strong opponent. He felt that the situation made a mockery of
         Ireland’s newly won independence, exhibiting ‘the sores of Ireland and the poverty of Ireland to the world and as a beggar
         to ask the world to come to the aid of the hospitals of this country’. Johnson advocated an additional levy of one penny per
         week for a year on health insurance, split between the employee and the employer, which would have raised £100,000. But there
         was no support for what was seen as a radical measure.
      

      
      A move to legalise sweepstakes petered out in 1923, but by 1929 it was back on the agenda. Many hospitals were deeply in the
         red, particularly the National Maternity Hospital, which was on the brink of closure. The hospitals, understandably given their plight, were engaged in extensive lobbying of the head
         of government, W.T. Cosgrave.
      

      
      O’Higgins had been assassinated, shot dead on his way to Mass, in July 1927. With the most powerful opponent of the sweepstake
         concept gone and the financial crisis worsening in the hospital sector, the momentum in favour of a sweepstake became irresistible.
      

      
      New legislation was drawn up, giving significant powers to the Minister for Justice to regulate the sweepstake. Legitimate
         promoters’ expenses (covering printing, distribution and salaries) of 30 per cent of the gross proceeds of ticket sales were
         allowed, along with 7 per cent for promoters’ fees. The legislation also required that hospitals receive a minimum of just
         20 per cent of the gross proceeds of ticket sales; pressure from Johnson to increase this to 40 per cent was resisted. The
         remaining 43 per cent was for prize money.
      

      
      The Act was signed into law on 4 June 1930. The first legal Irish Hospitals Sweepstake was to be held on the Manchester November
         Handicap. It was the beginning of an extraordinary story.
      

      
      * * *

      
      Richard Duggan emerged as the obvious man to run the new legal enterprise. A Dublin bookmaker, Duggan had been one of the
         most prominent promoters of illegal sweepstakes. In 1918 he raised £1,000 for the survivors and victims’ families of the mailboat
         RMS Leinster, which had been torpedoed by a German U-boat. He also ran the Mater Hospital Sweepstake in 1922, which had a prize fund of
         £10,000.
      

      
      Duggan was prosecuted in late 1924 under the Lotteries Act 1823 and fined £50 for his involvement in Duggan’s Dublin Sweep – run on the Manchester November Handicap. He was bound over to keep the peace for 12 months and gave an undertaking
         not to run any more sweepstakes. However, three years later he was organising a sweepstake on the Epsom Derby from Liechtenstein.
         Strange as it may seem, his past record did not so much disbar his involvement as prime him for it, in an irony that would
         set the tone for the next 60 years.
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